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and-or common Clinton Hill South Historic District

2. Location

straei & number S22 attachad — not for publication

city, town Brooklyn e Vicinity of
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3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Prasent Use
X district public —= occupied — agriculture —  mussum
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5. Location of l.egal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, stc. Kings County Register's Office -
street & number - 210 Joraleman Street .-

city, town Brookiyn state

6_ _ Repre's'entatuon m Existing Surveys
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Addresses:

Brevoort Place 2-24, 11-45

Classon -Avenue 5375-581 -

Franklin Avenue 333-557, 544-550

Grand Avenue 476-496, 473--505

Lefferts Place 1-193, 2-72, 96-112, 144-214, 226
St. James Place 260-312, 235-281

Washington Avenue 540-585, 531-361
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7. Descript.on

condluon o , Check one = Check one

—* exceflent X_deteriorated _X unaltered  _X original site
X good —tuins —X altered —__moved date ____ NA
—X fair — unexposed :

Describe the presant and original (if tnom) physical appsarancs

The Clintom Hill South Historic District consists of 246 contributing buildings sited
on parts of ten blocks spanning the southern edge of the Clinton Hill and Bedford-
Stuyvesant n91ghborhoods of Brooklyn, Kings County, New York. The historic district is
a cohesive unit that is clearly separate from the surrounding residential neighborhoods.
The district extends in an east-west direction and is bounded by two of Brooklyn's
major commercial thoroughfares., To the north of the historic district is Pulton Street.

‘with' nlneteenth-century brick stone and cast—iron commercial buildings. Hany of the
buildinga on this street have been altered or are deteriorated. North of Fulton Street
and west of Classon Avenue is the old residential neighborhood of Bedford, now part
of Bedford-Stuyvesant. To. the south, the historic district is bounded by Atlantic
Avenue, a major traffic artery that carries cars and trucks across the entire width
of Brooklyn and well into Queems (the Long Island Railrcad rums beneath this street).
Atlantic Avenue is lined with factories, automotive repair shops, and similar commercial
establishments. To the aouth of Atlantic Avenue is the Crowm Heights ne1ghborhood. i
To the east of the historic district 1s open land and commercial Bedford Avenue, To
the west, on Waverly Avenue, is a block of factories. The Clinton Hill South Historic
District does not follow the boundaries of an old Brooklyn neighborhood; in fact, it
crosses the boundary of two neighborhoods. The district is geographically cohesive,
howaver, The streets within the district are tucked between two major avenues and the

district's blocks are visually separate from their surroundings and unified in their
developmental history and design. In recent years, residents of these strests have
begun to refer to their enclave as Clinton Hill South. There are seven intrusions in
thc historic district.

Stylistically and chronologically the earliest buildings in the historic district are
three houses with Greek Revival detail--the large mansion at 96 Lefferts Place, the
small frame house at 478 Grand Avenue with its transitional Italianate detail, and
the brick house at 476 Crand Avenue. Although it has had its window enframements

. .removed and has been clad with aluminum siding, the large house at 96 Lefferts Place
retains its Greek Revival form., The rectangular flat-roofed building has an austere
entrance w1th a paneled front door flanked by stylized pilasters and topped by a
transom. A Doric—columned porch runs in front of the entrance and the attic level
is 1it by small rectangular windows. ; s

The earliest row houses in the historic district were built in the Italianate style.
Most of the Italianate style row houses in the historic district have brownstone
fronts, although ‘some are faced with brick. The first row houses constructed in the

by curving foliate brackets. Other details 1nc1ude large plate glass windows, wooden
cornices with-foliate brackets, and heavy irom railings and newel posts. An,archetypal

- row of Italianate style houses ig that at 37~73 Lefferts Place, built in: 1869 by
builder Joseph Townsend.
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There are two unusual Itallanate style rows in the hlstorlc distrlct. Nos. 265 281 St.
James Place form a row of brounstone~fronted homes with interesting projecting window and
doorway enframements with modest keystones, as well as wooden cornices with paired
brackets. Perhaps the finest Italianate style row in the historic district, and certainly
the most unusual, is that at 578-84 Washington Avenue (William Rushmore, builder, c.1868)
with its elllptxcal fenenestration. These elliptically arched. ‘window and doorway
openings are unique in Brooklyn. The only. other row. identified in New York City with
openings of this shape are those at 208-216 East 78th Street in Manhattan.

There is only one row of French Second Emplre style houses in the historic district,
556~60 Washlngton Avenue. . These. three brownstone houses have.a basic Italianate. form,
but each is crowned by a mansard roof.. Similarly, the single house to the northy 554
Washington Avenue, takes an Italianate form, but is capped by a mansard. Other mansard
roofs are found on buildings with Neo-Grec style detail.

The most prevalent row house style in the historic district is the Neo=Grec. .All of the
Neo-Grec style row houses in the distrlct are faced with brownstone and most have the
basic form of the Italianate style row houses-—three stories above a raised basement,
high stoop, projecting cornice,. etc. It is in the detailing that these buildings differ
from the earlier Italianate style rows., The moldings and other features on the Neo-
Grec style houses have a stylized angular form. and the ornament is in-the form of
stylized incised decoration. The rounded features of the earlier. row. houses are 1arge1y
replaced by rectilinear and angular openings and the foliate brackets of the Italianate
window and doorway enframements and cornices become far more angular on the Neo-Grec
style buildings. The Clinton Hill South Historic District has some of Brooklyn's

finest Neo-Grec style row houses, with pﬁrticularly gophisticated ornamental detail.

The beautifully detailed entrance hood at 570 Washington Avenue is an example of the
quallty of the Neo-Grec style ornament found in the historic distriet, Typical Neo-Grec
_style rows include those at 208-310 St. James Place (Robert Dixon and Amzi Hiil, archi-
tects, 1881-85) and 36=52A Lefferts Place (J.H. Mason, atrchitect/builder, 1881).
Brevoort Place is lined primarily with transitional Italianate/Neo~Grec style row houses.
These buildings, erected between c. 1876 and 1879, mostly by architect/builder Thomas B.
Jackson, are basically Italianare in form and detail, but have cornices with angular
Neo-Grec brackets. Some of the rows within the district, such as 81-87 Lefferks Place
(Benjamin Linikin, architect/builder, 1882), have the pro;ectlng angular bays that
became popular on Neo—Grec houses in Brooklyn, while other rows, such as 286-96 St.
James Place (Amzi Hill, ‘architect, 1876-78), are crowned by mansard roofs with iron
cresting. The earliest apartment building in the historic district, 312 St. James
PIQCE (Amzi Hill, architect, 1883), in in the Neo-Grec ‘style.

By the mid 1880s, the Neo-Grec style had gone out of favor. The new buildings designed
in the Queen Anne and Romanesque Revival styles use a wide variety of materials

and are much freer in their use of ornament. There are two Romanesque Revival style
rows in the historic district. The grandest Romanesque Revival houses are the pair

of dwellings at 100~102 Lefferts Place designed by J.S. Frost in 1892. J.S5. ¥Frost lived
in the Creek Revival house at 96 Lefferts. Place and was the owner, architect, and builder
of the two houses at the eastern edge of his plot. After the houses were completed,
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Frost sold them. The two: houses are tall four story and basement brownstone buildings
which display the complex use of texture found on the finest Romanesque Revival style
buildings, Here, the smooth stone facing contrasts with rough-stone blocks and dense
Byzantine carving., The formef'Univérsalist Church of Our Father; at the corner of
asymmetrical massing, round—arched windows, ‘and’ terra-cotta ‘detail, On the south side
of Lefferts Place between Classon Avenue and Franklin Avenue are two adjoining rows

of modest Queen Anne style houses designed by Mercein Thomas==174-82 (1887) and 184-94
(1886). The earlier of the two rows is the more interesting, with its contrasting
textures, steep mansards with oversized dormers, and projecting second floor oriels
with stained-glass transoms.

The twentieth-century buildlngs in the historic district were designed with Beaux-Arts,
Renaissance, and Colonial Revival detail. The "Palmyra," the Beaux-Arts style apartment
house on. the southeast corner of Leffarts.?Place and Grand Avenue, has a limestone

front with boldly carved ornament. The apartment house at 272-74 St, James Place
combines Colonial Revival ornament with Neo-Renaissance detail, and the pair of apartment
buildings at 93 and 103 Lefferts Place. designed in 1921 adapt Georgian detail to a
twentieth—century buildiug type.'
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Buildipng List

What follows is a list of all of the buildings within the Clinton Hill South Historic
Bistrict. Each entry contains the address of the building, its name (where applicable),
its style, original use, architect or builder (if known), date of construction (if known) ,
Minor alterations, such as changes to doors, windows, and iron

and major alterations.
work have not been noted,

Brevoort Place, north side between Franklin

il
13
15
17
19
21
23
25
27

29

Ttalianate/Neo-Gre

Italianate/Neo-Grec
Italjanate/Neo—-Grec
Italianate /Heo~Grec
Italianate/Neo-Grec
Italianate /Neo~Grec
Italianate/Heo«Grec
Italianate/Neo~Grec
Italianate/Neo-Grec
Italianate /Neo~Grec

Italianate/Neo-Grec

row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.
row house,
row _house,
row house.

row house.
removed, ona story addition.
row house.

removed, one story addition
ITtalianate/Neo=Grec row house.

Italianate/Neo-Grec

row house.

Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas

Thomas

Thomas
Thomas

B.

B.
B.
B.
B,
B.
B.
B.
B.
B.

Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,
Jackson,

VJéékson,

B, Jackseon,
B. Jacksomn,

removed, 1936 (Philip Markowitz, architect)

Italianate/Neo~Grec
Italianate/Neo-Grec
Italianate/Neo=Grec

Italianate/Neo-Grec
Italianate/Neo-Grec

.row house.

row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.

Robert
Robert
Robert
Robert
Robert

Robert

Dixon,
Dixon,

architect,

Avenue and Bedford Avenue

builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,

EuiLdét!arcHiteCt,
builder/architect,

builder/architect,

1878

Dixon,
bixon,
Dixon,
Dizon,

architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,

1878
1878
1878
1878

Brevoort Place, south:Side bet@eén'Franklin Avenue ahd Bedford Place

Dates are given only when confirmed in primary source material.

{photo 1)

1)
1)
1)
1)

2.1876 (phota
c.1876 (photo
c. 1876 {photo
¢.1876 (photo
1877 (photo 1)

1877--cornice removed

1877

1877

1877—-cornice

1877;fcornice
1877

1877--stoop

1878--stoop removed

2 Heavily altered Italianate/Neo-Grec row house, c.1877-——intrusion (photo I-1)
3 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house, c.1877: :
4 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house, ¢.1877
6 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house, c¢.1877
8 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house, ¢.1877

10

Italianate/Neo-Grec

" Italianate/Neo-Grec
~Italianate/Neo-Grec
"Italianate/Neo-Gree

Ttalianate/Neo=-Grec
Italianate/Neo~-Grec

row_house,
row house.
row house.
Tow house.
row house.
row house.

¢.1877
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas
Thomas :

Neo-Grec row house with mansard roof,

“Neo-Grec row house with mansard roof.

B. Jackson,
B. Jackson,
B. Jacksen,
B. Jackson,
B, Jackson,

builder/farchitect,
‘builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architect,
builder/architects

Amzi Hill, architect, 1883
Amzi Hill, architect, 1883--stoop removed

1879
1879--stoop removed

1879--cornice removed

1879
1879.:
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Classon Avenue, east side between Fulton Street and Lefferts Place

575 Italianate row house. ¢:1854 for Richard Crook
(Nota: Richard Crook was a merchant who, in 1854, lived on Fulton Street near
Bedford Avenue)

577 Italianate row house, c.1854 for Richard Crook

579 Italianate row house. c.1854 for Richard Crook

581 vacant lot, formerly the site of an apartment building

Classon Avenue, east side between Lefferts Place and Atlantic Avenue

595 Unity Chapel of the Third Unitarian Congregational Society/later Holy Trinity Baptist
Church/now Bethel Church of the Nazarine. High Victorian Gothic church. William
Field & Son, 1868~=brick -entrance porch added

Franklin Avenue, east &ide between Fulton.Street and Brevoort Place

533 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house. attributed to Robert Dixon, architect, 1875

335 Italianate/Neo~Crec row house. attributed to Robert Dixon, architect, 1875

537 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house. attributed to Robert Dixon, architect, 1875

539 Italianate/Neo-Grec row house. Robert Dixon, architect, 1876

341 Italianate/Neo=Grec row house. Robert Dixon, architect, 1876

543 Italianate/Neo—Grec row house. Robert Dixon, architect, 1876

545 Neo-Grec row house. Thomas .B. Jackson, builder/architect, 1879--stoop removed, 1918

{W.T. McCarthy, architect)-

Franklin'Avenue, east side between: Breﬁeort Place and Atlantic Avenue

559 Beaux—Arts apartment building. Cantor & Dorfman, architects, 1915

QFranklin Avenue; west side between Lefferts Place and Atlantic Avenue

544 Neo-Grec row house. John Frost,. archltect, 1883~-cornice and window enframements removed
546. Ttalianate row house. probably built in the 1860s
548 Italianate row house. probably built in the 1860s-—altered 1931 (Charles H. Richter,
-architect) with the addition of a projecting front on: the first floor: and
basement levels for the Hubbell Memorial Hall Association; noncontributing
building (photo I-2)
550 Italianate row house. probably built in the 18608 -

Grand Avenue.'east side between Fulton Street and Lefferts Place

457 Church of Our Father, Flrst Universaliet Society of Brooklyn/now Bethel Seventh Day

' Adventist Church. Romanesque ‘Revival church. Laurence B. Valk, architact, 1882 (photo 2)
Grand Avenue, west side between Fulton Street and Lefferts Place 7

476 Greek Revival brick house, c.1854--Neo-Renaissance style cornice (c.1900)- cast-lron verand
478 Greek Revival/Italianate frame house, c.1853

480 vacant lot ]

482 Mt. Calvary United Holy Church--noncontributing building (photo I-3)
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Lefferts Place, ﬁorth gide between St. James Place and Grand Avenue

7 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1862--stoop removed, entrance
blocked up, red brick facing en basement level, cornice removed and replaced by
aluminum and asphalt shingle parapet; noncontributing building (photo I1-4)

9 Italisnate.row house. William Alexander, builder,. c.1862

11 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.18627—cornice'brackets removed.

13 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1862 '

15 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c¢.1862

17 fralianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1862

19 Ttdlianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1862-~Neo-Renaissance cornice

21 vacant lot (former site of Iralianate row house--part of row with Nos. 7-21)

23
23
27
29
31
33

Italianate
Italianate
Italianate

:Italianate

Italianate
Italianate

row house.

‘row_house,

row house.

row-house.

row-house,
row house,

Elias Day,
Elias Day,
Elias.Day,
Elijias Day,
c.1870 -
c.1870

c.1868
c.1868
c.1868
C. 1868

builder,
builder,
builder,
builder,

Lefferts Piace, south side between St. James Plaée and Grand Avenue

4 vacant lot
6. Ttalianate row house.

¢, 1861 for William Moses
(Note: William Moses was a commercial merchant who, in 1865, lived in a house

that stood at-541 Washington.Avenue)
8 Italianate row house. c.1861 for William Moses

10 Anglo-Italianate row house. c. 1866 for William Moses {photo 3)

12 Anglo-Italianate row house., c.1866 for William Moses (photo 3)

14 Anglo-Italisnate row house. c.1866 for William Moses (photo 3)

16 Anglo-Italianate row house. c.1866 for William Moses (photo 3)

18 Anglo~Italianate row house. c.1866 for William Moses (photo 3)

20 Anglo-Italianate row house. c.1866 for William Moses (photo 3)

22 Italisnate row house. c¢.1865 for William Moses

24 Italianate row house. c¢.1865 for William Moses ,

26 Italianate row house. c¢.1865 for William Moses~-stoop removed

28  Ttalianate row house. Prebably built in the 1860s-—stoop removed

30 Italianate row house. Probably built in the 1860s

32 Italianate row house. Probably built in the 1860s

9% Italianate row house. Probably bullt in the 1860s -

36 Neo-Grec row House. J.H: Mason, architect/builder (Lambert & Mason, owmer and builder),
1881 ' :

38 Neo=Grec row house. J:H, Mason, architect/builder (Lambert & Mason, owner and builder),
1881 : : '

40 Neo-Grec row house. J.H. Mason, architect/builder (Lambert & Mason, owner and builder),
1881 S

42 Neo-Grec row house. J.H, Magson, architect/builder (Lambert & Mason, ovmer and. builder),

1881
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Lefferts Place, south side between. St. James Place and Grand Avenue-—continued

44 Neo~Grec row house. J.H, Masen, archltect/builder (Lambert & Mason, owner and builder),
1881le=stoop removed

46 Neo<Grec row house. J. H Maenn, architeet!bullder (Lambert & Mason, owner and builder),
1881-—stoop removed :: ______ :
Place

50 Neo=Brec row house. J, H Mason, architect/bullder (Lambert & Mason, owner and builder),
‘1881

52 Neo—Grec row house. J.H. Mason, arehltect/builder (Lanbert & Hhson, owner and builder),
1881 :

524 Neo~Grec rowr house. J H. Mason; arch:.tect/hu:.lder (Lambert & Mason, owner and builder),
1881

54 French Second Empire house. Probably built in the 1860s

Lefferts Place, north side between Grand Avenue and Classon Avenue

57 Italianate. row house. H. Townsend,

removed {photo:-4)

James builder, c.l869—-entrance enframement

59
61
63
- 65
‘67
69
71

83 ‘Neo-Grec

Italianate
Ttalianate
Italianate
Italianate”
Italianate
Ttalianate
Italianate
Italianate

Neo-=-Gree

row house.

row house;’

row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.

row hOuse.

James

James
James
James
James
James
James

James

H.
H.
H.
HO

H.V

H.
H."
H.

row house. Benjamin Linikin,
row housa. Benjamin Linikin,

Townsend,
Towvmsend,
Townsend,
Townsend,
Townsend,
Townsend,

Townsend,

Towhsend,

builder,
builder,
builder,
builder »
‘builder,
builder,
‘builder,
builder,

c.1869
¢.1869
c.1869
c.1869

{photo 4)
{photo 4)
{photo 4)
(photo 4)

c. 1869 (photo 4)
¢.1869 (photo 4)
¢.1869--stoop removed
¢.1869

nnett architect, 1901
Néo<Renaissance" apartment bullding. Thomas Bennett, architect, 1901 :
architect/builder, 1882 (p‘noto 5)

architect/builder, 1882 (photo 5)

‘85 Neo-Grec row house. Benjamin Linikin, architect/builder, 1882 (photo 5)

87 Weo-Grec row house. Benjamin Linikin, architect/builder, 1882 (photo 5)

89 Colonial Revival apartment building. Slee & Bryson, architects, 1922 (photo 6)

105 Colonial Revival apartment building. Slee & Bryson, architects, 1922 (photo 6)
107 Italianate row house. c. 1870 (photo &) .

109 Italianate row house. A.A. Reeves, architect, : {photo 6)

111 Ttalianate row house. A.A. Reavas, architect,: stoop removed and basement

portico added, 1920 (Frederick C. Podeyn, architect) (photo 6)

11371tallanate/Neo-Grec row house. James H. Towmsend, arehitect/bullder, 1876~wfacade

115
117

119

121
123
125
127

" 'moldings’ removed) mansard added, 1902°
Neo-Grec row house. James: H. Townsend,
Neo-Grec row house. James H. Towmsend ,
dand. basement and parlor floor covered
Jameg. H. .Townsend,
James H. Townsend,

Neo~Grec
Neo~Grec
Neo-Grec
Neo-Grec
Neo=Grec

row. house.
row house.
row house.
row house.

row house. Amzi Hill, architect, 1882--cornice removed and -entrance altered,
possibly in 1915 when building converted to a rcoming house; basement tiled

(John Mumford, architect) -
architect/builder, 1877

architect /builder, 1877==cornice removed

with permastone

architect /builder, 1877-—cornice removed

architect/builder, 1877
Amzi Hill, architect, 1882--cornice removed
Amzi Hill, architect, 1882--cornice removed




(Page 10 of 28)

NP5 Form 10-300-8

NPS Faem 109000
o

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Inventory—Nomination Form
: Clinton Hill South HD
Continuation sheet - Kings County, NY . ..

"uenanuntxi 7

4B No. 1024-0013

4B No. l024-0013
gxpires 10-31-87

Page 8

Lgfﬁgrts'Plécé, south side between Grand Avenue and Classon Avenue

56 Beaux-Arts apartment building called the "Palmyra."Axel Hedman, architect, 1905
64 Beaux-Arts row house. Axel Hedman, architect, 1905
56 Beaux—Arts row house. Axel Hedman, architect, 1905
70 Italian Villa style freestanding house, c.1854--facade resided and front porch enclosed
96 Greek Revival style freestanding house, c.185% or earlier—-aluminum siding and

‘window enframements removed (photo 7) '
100 Romanesque Revival row house: J.S, Frost, owmer/architect, 1892 (photo 8)
102 Romanesque Revival row house. J.S. Frost, owmer/architect, 1892 (phote 8)
104 vacant lot, Eormerly a Neo-Grec row house, part of row with 106-112 Lefferts Place
106 Neow-Gfec row hougse, George L. Morse, architect, "1876

108 Neo-Grec row house. George L. Morse,

110 Neo-Grec row house. George L. Morse, architect, 1876
112 Neo-Grec row house. George L. Morse, architect, 1876

architect, 1876-~cornice removed

Lefferts Piacé, morth side between Classon Avenue and Franklin Avenue

139 Frenéh'Second,Empire row house. John Betts, builder, ¢.1870=--basement and parlor

floor. covered with permastone; cornice removed

141 French Second Empire row house. John Betts, builder, c
143 Neo-Grec row house with mansard roof. James A, Thomson, architect/builder, 1882--

cornice removed

1870-—cornice removed

145 Neo-Grec tow house with mansard roof. James A. Thomson, architect/builder, 1882

147 Neo-Grec row house with mansard roof. James A. Thomson, architect/builder, 1882--
cornice removed; window enframements on second: floor gone :

149 Neg-Grec row house with mansard roof. James A, Thomsonm, architect/builder, 1882

151 Neo-Grec row house. A.A. Reeves, architect, 1880--cornice removed; stoop partially
gone; window enframements on second and third floors partially gone

153 Neo=Grec row house. A.A, Reeves, architect, 1880 : :

155 Romanesque Revival row house. Parfitt Brothers, architects, 1896

157 Romanesque Revival row house. Parfitt Brothers, architects, 1896

161 Freneh Second Empire villa, ¢.18657==porch removed , ,

163 Beaux-Arts style apartment building. Frank 5. Lowe, architect, 1907

169 French Second Empire style villa--resided and heavily altered; noncontributing
‘bailding (photo I-5) N :

171 One-story concrete block structure; noncontrib

177 Semi-detached Italianate villa,
179 Semi-detached Italianate villa,

183 Neo~Grec row house

‘almost completely

185 Neo~Grec row house
187 Neo-Grec. row house
189 Neo-Grec row house
191 ‘Neo+Grec row house

with mansard:
gone

‘with mansard

with mansard
with mansard
with mansard

c.1860-65 (photo 9)

uting structure (photo I-6)

¢.1860-85-=0riginal porch replaced (photo 9)

rocf. George L. Morse,

roof. George L. Morse,

roof. George L. Morse,.
roof. George L. Morse,

roof, George L. Morse,

193 French Second Empire villa, c.1863--porch removed

architect, 1877--cornice

architect, 1877--cornice removed
architect, 1877——cornice removed
architect, 1877--cornice removed
architect, L877=-cornice removed
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Lefferts Place, south side between Classon Avenue -and Franklin Avenue

144 Neo—Grec row house with mansard roof. Charles Baxter, architect, 1877-~cornice and
dormers removed; mansard clad with aluminum siding
(Note. Charles Baxter was a Manhattan architect; this is an unusual example of a

‘Manhattan architect’ designing

146
148
150
152
154
156
158
160

Neo—Grec
Neo=Grec
Neo-Grec
Neo~Grec
Neo-Grec
Neéo-Grec
Neo=Grec:
Neo-Grec

row house
row house
row house
row house

‘row house

with mansard

with mansard

with mansard
with mansard
with mansard

roof.
roof.
roof,
roof,
roof.

speculative row houses ‘in Brooklyn in<the 1870s)
‘Charles Baxter,
Qharles Baxter,
‘Charles Baxter,
Charles Baxter,
‘Charles Baxter,
row house. Isaa¢ Reynolds, architect, 1879

architect, 1877
architect, 1877
architect, 1877
‘architect, 1877
architect, 1877-—cornice removed

-Tow house.: Isaac Reynolds; architect; 1879

162
164

vacant:lot
Italianate
166 Italianate
168 Italianate
170 Italianate
172 Italianate
174 Queen-Anne
176 Queen Anne
¥78 Queert Anite
180 Quaen:Anne
182 Queen Anne
184 Queen Anne
186 Queen Anne
188 ‘Queen Anne

row house:
row house.
row house.
row house.
row house,
row house.
row house,
row ‘house.
row house.
row house.
row house.,
row house,

row house.

Mercein
;Merc31n
‘Mercein

John- Cotte,
John: Cotte,
John. Cotte,

John: Cotte,

John- Cotte,

builder,
builder,
builder,;
builder,
builder,

Cs
Ca
Ca
Ca:
c.:

Mercein Thowas, architect,

Mercein
Mercein
Mercein
Mercein
Mercein

Thomas,
1n1°ﬂu!5:,
Thomas,
Thomas,
Thomas,
Thomas,
Thomas,

architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,

'architect,

row house. Isaac Reynolds, architect, 1879

1868 -
1868
1868
1868
1868

1887
1887

1887--cornice removed
1887--cornice removed

1887
1886
1886

1886

{photc

{phicto

‘(photo

10)--cornice removed
10)=~cornice removed
10)

190 GQueen
192 Queen
194 Queen
196 Neo-Grec

Anne
Anne
,Anne

TOW house.

original stoop .

198 Neo=Grec
200 Neo-Grec
202 Neo-Grec
204 Neo-Grec
206 Neo=Grec
208 Neo~-Grec
210 Neo-Grec
212 Neo=Grec
214 Neo-Grec
226 Neo-Grec

row_house.
row house,
row house.,
row house,

-tow house;-

row house.
row house.

row house.
.row houses
“row house.

‘fow house.
row house.
Tow house.

Herceln

Roberthlxon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,
Dixon,

Robert
Robert
Robert
Robert
Robert’
Robert
Robert
Robert
Robert-

‘Thomas,
Mercein Thomas,

architect,

architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,.
architect,
architect,
architect,
architect,

‘architect,
architect,

. 1886 (photo 10)
1886 (photo 10)
1886 (photo 10)
1879~~cornice removed; box stoop replaces

1879

1879

1879——3€00p removed
1877

187 7==gtoop removed

c.1880

c.1880 .

1880~—parlor floor W1ndow enframements gone
1880

John Frost, architect/builder; 1883
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St. James Place, east side between Fulton Street and: Lefferts Place

235 Queen Anne apartment building, J.G. Glover. architect, 1887
237 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1864
239 Itallanate,row,houee.,William Alexander, builder, c.l864
241 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c¢.1864
243 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, C. 1864
245 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1864
247 Ttalianate row house, Willism Alexander, builder, c.1864
249 Italianate row house. William Alexander, builder, c.1864

St. ;emés;Elace,eaee side betweer Lefferts Place and Fulton Street

265

207

269
271
273
275
277
279
281

St.
260
262
264
266
‘268
270
272
276
278

280
282
284
286

Italianate
Ltalianate
Italianate
Italianate
Italianate
Italianate
italianate
Ttalianate
Italianate

row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.
row: house.
row house.
row house.
row house.
row houses

and basement levels

James Place, west side between-Fulton Street and Atlantic Avenue

Probably built in
Probably built in
Probably built in
Probably built in
Probably built: -in
Probably built -in
Probably built in
Probably built in
Probably built in

‘the

the
the
the
the
the
the

the:

the

1860s
18640s -
1860s
186035
-1860s
1864Qs
1860s
1860s

1860g-—commercial f£ront on parlor

"portland," Queen Anne apartment bulldlng. Ja.8s Ashley, architect, 1890
"HeKalb," Queen Anne apartment building. J.S. Ashley, architect, 1890

Neo%Grec TOW house. Robert Dixon, architect, 1880<=cornice removed
Neo-Grec row house. Robert Dixon, architect, 1880--cornice removed

Neo~Grec row house. Robert Dixon, architect, 1880
Neo-Grec row house. Robert Dixon,. architect, 1880
Neo-Georgian apartment building. Neville & Bagge, archlteets, 1905 (photo 11)

vacant lot

8

Neo-Grec row housettgusagngrg E ﬁussell, architect Walter Russell, builder, 1880
(Note: S5.E.C. Russell fapparently Susanna E.C. Russell] is listed as the"
.architect of this row on the form filed with:the Brooklyn Buildings Department.

Her name does not appear in any lists of Brooklyn architects, nor is she

listed-in the Brooklyn City Directories. .
in Brooklyn in the nineteenth century.

Ms Russell and

Neo-Grec row hou h FLr,
Neo=Grec. row: houg L Sﬂﬁgﬁﬁa E. rao

Sus

2

exr. husband is gnknown .)
rge fRussell, architect; Walter Russell, builder, 1880(photo 12
"Russell, architects Walter Russell builder; 1880(photo 12

There are no known women architects
The professional relationship between

(photo 12)

vacant lot,. formerly a Neo-Grec row house part of row with Nos. 278-82
Neo~Grec-row house with mansard roof, Attributed to Amzi Hill, archltect. 1876-—
: cornice. removed -
288 Neo-Grec row house with mensard roof Attrlbuted to Amzi Hill, architect, 1876~
cornice removed
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Attributed to Amzi Hill, architect, 1876~-

290 row house with mansard roof.

removed

Neo~Grec
cornice

292
2594
296

Neo«=Grec
Heo~Grec
Neo=Grec

row house with mansard roof.
row house with mansard roof,
row house with mansard roof.

Attributed to Amzi Hill, architect, 1876
Amzi Hill, architect, 1878-~cornice removed
Amzi Hill, architect, 1878

298
300
302
304
306
308
310
312

Neo~Grec
Neo~Grec
Neo«Grec
Neo~Grec
Neo-Grec
Neo-Grec
Neo=-Grec
Neo-Grec

row house.
row house.
row house,
row house.
row house.
row house.
row house.

Robert Dixon, architect,
Robert Dixon, architect,
Robert Dixon, architect,
Robert Dixon, architect,

1881
1881
1881
1881

Amzi Hill, architect, 1885
Amzi Hill, architect, 1885
Amzi Hill, architect, 1885

apartment building. Amzi Hill, architect, 1885

(Note: In ¢.1920 this building was purchased by the Roman Catholic church for
use 33 a residence for the prieste on the faculty of the Cathedral GCollege
of the Immaculate Conception lecated directly to the west.} .

Washington Avenue, east side between Fulton Street and Atlantic Avenue

531 Neo-Grec row house. T.A. Remsen, architect/builder, 1881

533A Neo=Grec row house. T.A. Remsen, architect/builder, 1881

533 Neo=Grec row house. T.A. Remsen, architect/builder, 1881

535 Neo-Crec row house. T.A. Remsen, architect/builder, 1881

537 wvacant lot

539 vacant lot

541-561 Cathedral Collepe of the Immaculate Conception. Gustave E. Steinback, architect,

HWashington Avenue, west side between Fulton Street and Atlantic Avenue

540 Joaeph Kirby, builder, c¢+1873

542 Joseph Kirby, buildery ¢.1873

344 Ttalianate tow house. Joseph Kirby, builder, c.1873

548 Heavily altered house now uséd as a church; noncontributing building (photo I-7)

554 Italianate/French ‘Second Empire house {Note: This house appears to have been
built for Henry Harteaun, a dealer in masons materidls [his business was at
Clinton and Flushing avenues]. He first appears in the Brooklyn directories
at this address in the 187273 editlon. He also was a builderlspeculator

in the area.)

Italianate row-house.
Italianate row house.

536
558
563

Neo-Grec
Neo—Grec
‘Neo=Grec

roof.
roof.
roof 'y

mansard
mansard
mansard

row house
row housé
row house

With
with
with

removed
Femoved

C. 1878——parlor window and door enframements
c.1878—-parlor window and:door enframements
"evl878~—cornice removed :

362

564

366
568

570

Neo=~Grec
Neo~Grec
Neo~Grec
Neo~-Grec

Neo=Grec

. row house.
row house

row house
row house
row house

(photo 14)

with:
with

roof ¢
roof,
roof.
roof.
roof.

mansard
mansard
with mansard
with mansard
with mansard

Parfitt Brothers,
Parfitt Brothers,
Parfitt Brothers,
Parfitt Brothers,
Parfitt Brothers,

architects,
architects,
architects,
architects,
architects,

IBSQf-COrniCe
188Q0==cornice

1880

1880—-cornice
1880--cornice

removed

removed

removed
removed
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Washingﬁou Avenue, west side béthéﬁ Fﬂlton'Streé:

572 Italianate
574 Italianate
576 Itallanate’
578 Italianate
580 Italianate-
582 Italianate
584 Italianate

row-house.
row house.
row hotise.
row ‘house,
row house,
row house.
row house,

Thomas Lambert, builder, c.1875

Thomas ‘Lambert, builder, c.

1875

Thomas Lambert, builder, ¢.1875

William Rushmore, builder,
William Rushmore, builder,
William Rushmore; builder,
William Rushmore, builder,

¢.1868 (photo
¢, 1868 (photo
c.1868 (photo
¢.1868 (photo

15)
15)
15)
15}

and Atlantic Aﬁenue continued
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8. Significa._.ce

Period : Areas of Significance—Check and justity below

. préhistoric __> archeology-prehistoric - . _.community planning ... landscape architecture.__ religion

2 1400-1499 - . . archeology-historic . _- conservation - law — sclence

-~ 1500~1599 ____ agriculture . .—_ econamics - - Hterature ___ sculpture

— 16001899 _%  architecture —-— education - mifitary —— socist

___ 17001799 ._.art — . engineering ——_music humanitarian

—x.:1800-1899 ..___ commerce _.__ exploration/setilement .__ . philosaphy Tl theater

_% 1800 — . communications industry ___ politics’government  ___ transportation
' ' : m_mumM' o o ___other (specity)

Specific datesc.1850-1922 : llulldormrchrtoct various’

Statement of Significance (in one pauguph)

The Clinton Hill South Historic District is a small architecturally significant enclave
‘that illustrates the high:quality of residential. design in Brooklyn during that city's
peak years of development. The brick, brownstone, and limestone fronted row houses
and ‘apartment buildings, the frame and stuecco.villas, and the instirutional buildings
of -the historic. district form a cohesive unit that retains its historic ambiance to

a high degree. The Clinton Hill South Historic District contains a concentration of
intact Ttalianate, Anglo-Italianate, Neo-Grec, French Second: Empire, Romanesque Revival,
Queen Anne, and Neo-Renaissance style row houses, Greek Revival, Italianate, and French
Second Empire style freestanding villas, and Neo-Grec, Queen Anme, Beaux Arts, and Neo-
Georgian style apertment ‘buildings, illustrating a continuum of development spanning
geven decades. These buildings create a unified historic grouping of low rise,

finely detailed nineteenth and early twentieth century structures. The buildings reflect

g consistent concern for scale, materials; -and: ornament .that: is evident on all of

the contributing 'structures.: The: earliest buildings in the historic district include
freestanding suburban villas from the.1850s and a short row of simple brick row houses
from the same era; the prime period of development within the historic district was
between the mid: 1860s and the 1880s, when the majority of the speculatively built rew
houses were constructed. The open spaces in the district were filled-in in the early
twentieth century with row houses and apartment buildings that complement the earlier
structures. . The-row houges erected in the 1860s -and 1870s were the work of a group

of active Brooklyn builders who also worked in nearby historic districts.. In the

late -18708 architects began to design the row houses and many of those in the historic
district were the work of prominent Brooklyn architects such as Amzi Hill, Robert
- Dixon, Parfitt Brothers, ‘Mércein Thomas, . George L.:Morse, and Axel. Hedman.J The apart-
- ment ‘buildings -wereé ‘the :work of ‘both well known Brooklyn architects such. as. Slee &
Bryson and Frank ‘5. Lowe, and Manhattan architects such as the firm of Nev111e & Bagge.
In ‘addition to the residential: buildings, the historic district contains two nineteenth- :
century churches designed by Brooklyn architects who attained national prominence (a
High Victorian Gothic style church designed: -for a: Unitarian congregatiod by William

Field & Son-and :a Romanesque Reviwval:style church designed for a Universalist congre-

gation by L.B. Valk) and a parochial school (the earlytwentieth century Neo=-Gothic

style Cathedral GCollege of ‘the Immaculate Conception designed by Gustave.E. Steinback).

The unity of the historic district is sccented by its location between two of Brooklyn's

wajor thoroughfarss. TFulton Street, a major commercial street, and Atlantlc Avenue,

a major traffic artery, rum parallel to each other only one block apart. It is the

quiet residential area set hetween these two main streets that forms: the historic

district,  Three block:long Lefferts. Place and one block long Brevoort Place-run

parallel to Atlantic Avenue and Fulton Street but have a character ‘that is -distinctly

geparate from-that of the commercial ‘streets.::These places, alqngﬂwlth the short

-flanking streets and St. James Place and Washington Avenue to the west, combine to

. form this well-preserved nineteenth = and early twentieth century residential district,
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Prior: to the advent of ‘development in the vicinity of the historic district the area

was farmland adjoining the Brooklyn-and Jamaica Turmpike {Fulton Street), which ran
eastfwest from the village of Brooklyn to Jamaica, and the Clove Road (approximately.

the location of Badford Avenue), whieh ran gouth from the turnpike to Flatbush., These
two colonial roads met at Bedford Corners, a-small village located. at the present
junction of Fulton Street and Bedford Avenue, just to the northeast of the historic
district, . This village appears to-have been in existence by 1667.1 Most of the . .

land in ‘the historic district-was owned by the Lefferts family,. who were among the largest
seventeenth= and eighteenth-century landowners in Brooklyn. A Lefferts farmhouse
atood just west of the historic district. “Other .plots were owned by the Ryersen and
Hunter families. With the exception of a few small villages, all of Brooklyn was
undéveloped farmland until the 1820s when safe and reliable ferry service between
Brooklyn and New York City brought about the- advent of urban development as people moved
to Brooklyn ‘and commiited to jobs in Manhattan. This urban development began in Brooklyn
Heights, near the original ferry terminal, Development. expanded from the Heights,
moving ‘to the south into South Brooklyn (Cobble Hill, Carroll Gardens and Boerum Hill}
and Park Slope and to the-east into Fort.Greene, Clinton Hill,-Bedford, and Stuyvesant
Heights. ~The population growth of Brooklyn was unprecedented; the city grew from 2,378
pedple in 1800 into - the third largest city in America by mid century. In every decade
betweer 1830 and 1860 the population more than doubled and in each of the following
decades of the century between 1005000 and 300,000 people moved to Brogklyn. With
enormous increase in population came a corresponding building boom as thousands of

row housés and ‘other residential buildings were built to accommodate these people

and as ‘churches, clubs, schoolsy and other ingtitutions were erected to cater to their
social needs. : s . :

The tthan development of the Clinton Hill South Historic District area was assured in

1835 when a commission was appointed to map streets in the undeveloped sections of Brooklyn.
At this time; Washington Avenue, St. James Place {(originally Hall Street), Grand Avenue,
.Classon Avenue, and Franklin Avenue were planned and Lefferts Place was laid out

parallel to Fulton Street and Atlantic Avenue between St. James Place and Franklin Avenue.
Brevoort Place was not planned as part of this grid, L '

It was nof untilithe '1850s- that James Carson Brevoort and his wife, Elizabeth D. Brevoort,
acquired land within the historic district. James Carson Brevoort was born into one of
New York City's most prestigious families. He studied engineering in Switzerland and,
upon returning te this country, worked with his uncle, James Renwick, on the"Survey of
the North-eastern Boundary,’ in Maine. Im 1838, Brevoort became secretary to Washington
Irving who had been appointed Minister to Spain. 1In 1843, he married Elizabeth Lefferts
of Bedford and moved Into the family's homestead near Bedford Avenue. He spent his

time managing the Lefferts family property as well as property which he putchased in

the area. In the 1870s, Brevoort began %o plan the development of the area adjacent to
his house. - In order to develop the area to itg fullest, Brevoort laid out two streets,
Bravoort Place, running from Franklin Avenue to Bedford Avenue and Bedford Place running
from Brevoort Place scuth to Atlantic Avenue.: Prior to this, Lefferts Place had ended
at Franklin Avenue. At this corner Lefferts Place and Franklin Avenue were joined by

C}pvé Place, a short street which ran diagonally from Atlantic Avenue to Bedford Avenue.
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In the Clinton Hill South Historic District all of the row houses were speculatlve
ventures. Most of the developers working in the district were also builders who erected
the Houses for rapid saleé. The builder/developers active in:-the historic distirct,
including Thomas Lambert, Willdiam Rushmore,  Joseph Kirby, William Alexandes, J.H.
Townsend, Aquila Fngland, and Thomas B. Jackson, were also active in the development

of ‘the neighboring Clinton Hill Historic District and Fort Greene Historic District.
Several developers retained :ownership of a significant number of homes for many years.
This is particularly true; for -example, on the south side of Lefferts Place between
Classon ‘Avenue and Franklin Avenue. Developer John-Cotte built the row of three
Italianate style houses at 164~168 Lefferts Place in c.1868 and his executors sold the
property ‘to Alsnson Treadwell in 1893. Treadwell built. a large number of houses on this
block in the late 1870s and 18808 and he retained ownersth of many of them into the
twentieth century. - . .

The major-period-of building in: che histuric distrlct commenced in the . 18703- During
that decade- eighty~one of the 219 contributing row houses were erected., - This was followed,
in ‘the- 1880s, by the-construction of an‘-additional sixty-seven contributing row_houses.
Almost all of the row houses erected in the 1870s and the first half of the 1880s are
Neo=Grec style brownstones-or transitional- Italianate/Neo-Grec. and French Second Empire/
Neo=Grec rows. ~The Clinton Hill South Historic District contains some of the finest Neo-
Grec row housés in Brooklyn. The fasadas in the hietorie &1strict display especially
sophisticated ineised decoration: - This is particularly: true, for example,. on the rows
at 562-570 Washington Avenue: (Parfitt Brothers, 1880), 298~-304 St. Jameas Place (Rcbert
Dixon, 1881); and 306-310 St. James Place :(Amzi Hill,-1885). . In addition to .the row
houses, the first apartment buildings appeared in -the historic district during this
period. The Neo=Grec style multiple dwelling at 312 St. James Place at the corner of
Atlantic Avenue was built in 1885 as an adjunct to the neighboring row houses.  Two
years later, a second apartment building was erected at 235 S5t. James Place (J.G. .
Gloéver, architect). . By. the late 1880s the popularity. of .the brownstone. Neo—Grec style
-Had been superseded by the freer Romanesque Revival and Queen Anne designs throughout
‘Brooklyn and in the Clinton Hill South Historic District several prominent architects
designed brick ggd stone row houses and apartment buildlngs in these styles. .

It was during the 1870s, 1880s, and 18905 that some of Brooklyn s leadlng architects
were active:in the historic district, Amzi Hill, Robert Dixon, and George L. Morse
designed houses in the Neo-Grec style. Amzi Hill, the architect of 286-296 3St. James
Place’ (1878), 123<27 Lefferts Place (1882), 22-24 Brevoort Place (1883), and 306-312
Waskingten, Avenue (1885) was, perhaps, the most- talented-designer working in the Weo—~
Grec style in Brooklyn. Hill established his practice in 1858 and by the time he
designed the buildings in the Clinton Hill South Historic District he was one of the most
successful architects. in the city. 'Hill's Neo-Grec style row houses" exhibit a:fine use
of angular forms. and incised detall.r He was one of the first architects in Brooklyn

to turn his attention to the design of apartment houses for mlddle—class tenants and
was responsible . for several fine multiple dwellings including that at 312 St. James
Place in the historic distriet, the Clinton (1881) on the southwest corner of Greene and
Vanderbilt avenues in the Fort Greene Historic District, and the Quincy Flats (c.1886)
on Quiney Street in Bedford~5tuyvesant.
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Clove Place was closed when Brevoort Place and Bedférd Place &efé 1aidgoﬁ£.f;

It was in the 1830s that the large land holdings in the vicinity of the Clinton.Hill
South Historic District began to be broken up. It was not, hewever, until the 1850s
the buildings began to appear within the historic district. Among the first houses
built in the district were freestanding suburban vilias. As early. as the 1840s the
elevated area at the top of Clinton Hill had begun.to. attract families who. wished to
reside in suburban homes. Many of these were located. on Clinton and Washington avenues
within the Clinton Hill Historic: District, but. others appeared on Lefferts Place.
Stylistically, the earliest of these to survive is the Greek Revival house at 96 Lefferts
Place, which dates from 1853 or earlier. ‘Hearby is an. Italian Villa built.c.1834 by James
W. Elwell, 'a commercial merchant.  The earliest: row houses in the historic district
also date from this pericd. This is a row of three Italianate style brick dwellings at
575-579 Clasgon-Avenue erected by builder Richard Crook im c.1854. Upon completion,
these houses were immediately sold ‘to businessmen. It is curious that the first row
touses int the historic district were built at such an early date and.are located as far
east as Classon Avenue. .In the 1850s, most builders were just beginning -to show an
interest in land to the east of Flatbush Avenue (the .earliest houses in the Fort Greene
Historic District date from this period). Although Crook!s houses sold .rapidly, they are
the only row houses +in the historic.district built before the mid 1860s. Perhaps the
presanee of the new Brooklyn City Railroad Company's horsecar line on Fulton Street and
the Brooklyn and Jamaica Railroad and the Long Isiand Railroad on-Atlantic Avenue {(with
stations at Bedford Avenue and Franklin Avenue) led to a-belief that housing.this far
from the center of Brooklyn would be successful. These railroad and horsecar lines
transported people to and from the various ferry terminals.

In the 1860s, several other suburban villas were erectad, most on the north side of
Lefferts Place between Classon Avenue and Franklin Avenue where a pair of semi~detached
Italianate style homes (c.1860) and two French Second Empire style villas (c.1863-65)
- gtill ‘stand. It wae during the 1860s that the censtruction of row houses gained momentum.
Most of the Italianate and Anglo~Italianate style houses within the historic district
date from this decade. : : RS : e e

The early row houses in the district .were not designed by architects. Most building in
Brooklyn at this time was undertaken by developers who purchased land with the intention
of building row houses on speculation. These houses were to be sold or rented to the
affluent families moving to Brooklyn in ‘ever increasing nuwbers. The developers did
not intend to build architectural masterpieces, but were interested in building houses
that would provide the largest profit margin. Most often the developer was alse a
builder and was responsible for overseeing the actual construction of the row housges.. .
The identity of these builders can be found on deed records. 1f the developer was
‘not: & builder himself, he would hire a builder to erect the houses, The builders did’
not design the orhamental detail on the row house facades. These features were carved
by stonie magons and carpenters, aither working at stone yards and lumber yards or ‘at
the building sites. After completion, most row houses were sold, usually.to someone who

planned to reside in the new house. Occasionally, a developer retained ownership
of some houses and rented them.
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ALl of the reszdential neighborhoods that developed in Brooklyn durlng the nineteenth
century are.-dotted with handsome institutional buildings. These churches,. ‘schools,
clubs, and health facilities -are a reflection of the affluence of local communities

and of the values of their residents. Many of these buildings are extremely Impressive
and were designed by architects of notoriety. Within the boundaries of the Clinton Hill
South Historic District.are two contributing churches and a parochial school. On the
northeast corner of Grand Avenue and Lefferts Place 1s the Romanesque Revival style
church built in 1882 for the Ghurch .or Our Father, First Universalist Church Society

of Brooklyn.{now Bethel Seventh Day Adventist Church}. This church was designed by
Laurence B. Valk; a prolific Brooklyn-based ecclesiastical architect (there are at
least five other extant churches in Brooklyn designed by Valk) who designed churches
all over the country. The Universalist church is built of Trenton brick and is
extensively ornamented with terra—cotta trim. :

A block away f:om the Universalist Church.is. the High Victorian Gothic style Third
Unitarian Society's Unity. Chapel (now Holy: Trinity Baptist. Church). This small stone
chapel was designed in 1868 by William Field & Son. William Field established an

office in New York City in 1837. He lived in Brooklyn and much of his work was commissioned
by Brooklyn residents. . In 1889, he opened a second office in Brooklyn. Field designed
houses.in both Brooklyn.and Manhattan, but is best known as the architect of Alfred

Tradway Whita's pioneering Homa, Tower, and Riverside model tenements in the Cobble

Hill and Brooklyn Heights historic districts. This is his only known church design.

The Cathedral College of the Immaculate Conception, 1ocated on the northeast corner

of Washington and Atlantic avenues, was. a prestigious Roman Catholic preparatory school
affiliated with the Cathedral of the Immaculate Conception. - This cathedral was to have
been built on Greene and Vanderbilt avenues, but was never complated, The Neo=Gethic
style school was designed by Catholic—church architect Gustave E. Steinback in 1914.
The. school was planned with a clock tower that was. to. rise. 300 feet._ This tower

was never completed. . The initial phase ‘of construction (1914-15) COHSlsted of a

school wing and refectory on Washington Avenue. In 1920 the building was extended

to Atlantic Avenue, continuing Steinback's plan. The bu11d1ng is no longer used as

a school.

By 1890, the development of single-family row houses in the historic district had
virtually ended., In the 1890s only four row houses were erected; the last pair of

row houses was built in 1905. . The blocks within the district remained as quiet residential
streets housing middle-class. families. An examination of the Brooklyn City Directories
from the 1860s through the 1880= shows that thé original residents of the row houses
tended to be rthe families of fairly affluent businessmen and professionals. The
houses were occupied by a large number of lawyers, dry goods merchants,: commerciel
merchents, brokers; produce dealers, etc. Almost all of these men Worked in 1ower
Manhattan and commuted to their offices every day. Historian E. Idell Zeisloft
described the typical Brooklyn neighborhood and his deseription fits the blocks within
the Cllntoﬁ Hill Hlstoric District. In 1899, Zeisloft wrote that Brooklyn iss :

a dwelllng—plaoe for business folk and employees who possess
moderate incomes, and those of greater means who abhor the
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The most active architect in the historic district was Robert Dixon, who designed

thirty contributing row houses: the transitiomal Italianate/Neo~Grec rows at 533-43
Franklin Avenue (1876) .and 35-45 Brevoort Place (1878) and. the Neo-Grec rows at 196~

214 Lefforts Place (1877-80), 264-70 St. James Place (1880), and 298-304 St. James Place
{1881). Dixon, born in 1852, was a native of Brooklyn. He apprenticed as a carpenter
with his father, who was a successful local builder, and then trained with Brooklyn
architect Marshall J., Morrill.. In the late 1870s Dixon established his own office and
the rows in the Clinton Hill Historic District appear to be among his earliest work.
Later in his career, Dixon designed Romanesque Revival style row houses such as those

atr 212-216 S5t. James Piace one block north of this historic district in the Clintom Hill
Historic District.

The two rows in the hlstoric distrzct designed by George L. Morse, 106-12 Lefferts Place
(1876) and 183-91 Lefferts Place (1877-78), are early works by an architect who designed
several of Brooklyn's most prominent landmarks. Besides these row houses and others

in nearby historic districts, Morse was.the architect of the Franklin Savings Bank, a
Romanesque .Revival style early skyscraper.on the corner of Court and Montague streets in
the Brooklyn Heights Historic District, Grace Chapel, in the proposed Prospect—Lefferts
Gardens. Historic District, and the A.G. Jennings mansion, at 313 Clinton Avenue in the
Clinton Hill Historlc Dlstrlct.

Two of Brooklyn 8 finest architectural offices d281gned notable row houses in. the Clinton
Hill South Historic District in the late 1880s. The architect Mercein Thomas was born
and trained in Brooklyn and opened his architectural office in 1878. In 1886 he was
described as "a young man [who] has already gone through a 1ong course of practical
experience and training in the wide field of architecture."< Thomas was an extremely
successful architect, designing a wide range of buildings. Thomas designed a large
number of row houses such as the Queen Anne rows at 176~182 Lefferts Place (1887) and
184-94 Lefferts Place {1886) in this district and. the superb trio of houses at 400-
‘404 Washington Avenue in the Clintom Hill Historic District..  Thomas also designed
mansions, factoriea, commercial structures, and instltutlonal bulldings (notably the
former Methodist Home in.Crown Hedghts). ..

The two Tows designed by the firm of Parfltt Brothers illustrate the architectural )
development of - this very successful Brooklyn firm, Parfitt Brothers was a partnership
between three brothers, all of whom were born in England. The. two eldest Walter. .

{d.1924). and Henry (d.1888), opened an office in Brooklyn in 1875. ..In 1882 they were
joined by Albert Parfitt (1863—1926). Parfitt Brothers designed hundreds of buildings

in Brooklyn, -some of which are among the finest designs of the late nineteenth century.
During the 1870s and early 1880s, Parfitt Brothers designed a series of Neo-Grec style
brownstone houses, guch as the row at 562-570 Washington Avenue (1880). Examples of -

their Neo=Grec work can-also be found - in the Clinton Hill Historic District, the
Park Slope Historic Dlstrict, and the Prospect Heights Historic District. In the ‘mid 1880s,

extensive terra=cotta ornament. During the 1880s and early 18%0s they were alsa.
responsible for several Romanesque Revival style houses such as the.pair at 155=57
Lefferts Place (1891).
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feverlsh and artificial joys of “the modern Babel [New York
Cityl. It is a vast aggregation of home ‘and -family- life,
and the social pleasures that appertain thereto. There: is
little to be $een in Brooklyn save the streets and avenues,
hundreds of miles. of them, filled with rows of dwelling

-¢lpiid: piercing office bulldlngs {in the.Civic Center areajvii
is the exclusive domain of women and children during the
daylight hours. %

In the First decades of the twentieth century, a small amount of building occurred
in the historic district. This entailed the construction of eight apartment buildings
and two row houses. - These were erected on undeveloped sites or replaced some of the
early freestanding villas. The apartment buildings from this period were designed in
the Beaux-Arts and. Neo~Georgian styles. The Beaux=Arts style apartment house at
56 TLefferts Place and the two adjoining row houses at 64~66 Lefferts Place ave the
work of Axel Hedman, one of the most active architects in Brooklyn during.the first
decades of the twentieth ‘century. Hedman specialized in the design of limestone-
fronted Beaux-Arts and Neo-Rénaissance style buildings and his buildings in these
styles, found in the Prospect- Lefferts Gardens area and in the Stuyvesant Heights
and Park Slope historic districts, are among the finest in New York City. The apartment
buildings at 93 and 103 Lefferts Place, the last two contributing buildings in the
historic district, are also the work of a prominent Brooklyn. architectural firm—-
Slee & Bryson. John Sleé and Robert Bryson founded their firm in 1905. They designed
a large number of freestanding row houses and apartment buildings. Other examples of
their work can be found in the Prospect Park South,Albemarle-Kenmore Terraces, and
Clinton Hill historic.districts and in Prospect-Lefferts Gardens. One Manhattan
architectural firm, Neville & Bagge, designed a2 building in the historic district--
. the Neo-Georgian styla apartmernt house at 272-74 St. James Place (1905). .Neville
& Bagge established their officé in 1892 and were extreémely active in' the design of
apartment buildings in Manhattan, particularly on the Upper West Side and in Harlenm,
This is their only known work im Brooklym.

After the construction® of Slee & Bryson's apartment buildlngs in 1921 construction
ceased in the historic district. The district has remained a residential enclave

set between two major commercial streets, but many of the gingle-family row houses have
been divided into apartments. The facades of the majority of the buildings have been
‘well maintained over the years and there continues to be a high rate of owner occcupancy
in the digtrict; The Clinton Hill South Historic District retains much of its nineteenth
and ‘early twentieth century ambiance.. . The brownstone, brick, and limestone fronted
residential buildings retain: their stoops, cornices, and other ornamental features to

‘a high-degree and-the blocks within the district emit the aura of a prime nineteenth—
century residential neighborhood. '

i New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission. Bféﬁklyn Survey! Bedfordetuyvesant
Proposed Historic District. n.de; pelld -
2'Ide11 E. Zeisloft, The New Metropolis, {(NY: Appleton & Co.. 1899), p. 36.
° Noter The Brooklyn He;ghts, Cobble Hill Albemarle-Kenmore Terraces, Prospect -Heights,
Prospect-Park South, Park Slope, Stuyvesant He:.ghts, Clinton Hill and Fort Greene

historie distriets ara listed on the National Registér. Prospect Lefferts Gardens
has been proposed for listing on the National Register.
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